
Town of Hampton 
Board of Finance 
Budget Meeting 

Tuesday, March 18, 2014   
7pm 

Hampton Town Hall 
 

Meeting Minutes 
 
 
Call to Order:  The meeting was called to order at 7:00pm by Chair Jeff Clermont. 
 
Members present:  Ed Adelman, Nick Brown, Jeff Clermont, Rick Matejka. 
Alternates present:  Luciann Norton, Michael Higgins. 
Members/alternates absent:   Dan Meade, Penny Newbury, Rheo Brouillard. 
 
Also present:  1st Selectman Al Cahill, Selectman Bob Grindle, Treasurer Ellen Rodriguez, Rec Commission 
Chair Ed Burchfield, Conservation Commission Chair Randy Thompson, Registrars Dayna McDermott-
Arriola & Sam Higgins, and Recording Clerk Kathi Newcombe. 
 
Seating of alternates:  Luci and Mike were seated for Penny and Dan, respectively. 
 
Citizen Comments:  Registrars Dayna McDermott-Arriola and Sam Higgins spoke about the justification 
for the elections department budget’s increase; there are more referenda anticipated, replenish 
referendum ballot supply (printed in house to save money), etc.  The Registrars did not put in for the 3% 
COLA increase for themselves, their deputies or assistants, as they feel they are generously 
compensated and that town hall employees should not be getting an increase; they put the adjustment 
in only for their poll workers.  As a citizen, Dayna McDermott-Arriola said that town hall employees are 
well paid; no one begrudges the road crew’s raise or the 1st selectman’s salary adjustment, but others 
who work part-time in town hall are offered health insurance and have paid holidays.  She asked why 
the tax collector’s assistant is up 16%, the assessor clerk up 20%, the building office has an increase; and 
why is IWWA clerk up 2.95% instead of 3.02% like most of the others.  The bone of contention with 
taxpayers in the past has been town hall employee salaries. 
Luci asked questions about increased hours in the Registrars’ and workers’ salaries; the response was it 
was based upon actuals and increased number of referenda anticipated.   
Nick pointed out that Hampton spends nearly double what Scotland spends for the Elections 
Department; the response was that Scotland does not come out and vote in numbers at referenda, they 
rarely initiate referenda and make most of their decisions at town meeting; the taxpayers of Hampton 
are coming out in greater numbers every year at their referenda.  Dayna pointed out that neither the 
Board of Finance nor the Registrars make the decisions about whether there are referenda; the BoS 
makes that decision or the taxpayers themselves have the option to petition a vote to referendum. 
Jeff asked how Registrars are paid in other towns; Dayna responded that some are paid hourly, as little 
as $9/hour, some are being paid a salary of upwards of $84,000, some get paid a salary plus an hourly 
rate for election events; Sam stated that there are many state-mandated hours.  The legislation 
requiring these hours has not caught up with the other statutes allowing Election Day Registration. 
 
2014-15 budget worksession:   



Treasurer Ellen Rodriguez reported per HES Business Coordinator Sally Lehoux, there is currently a 
5.89% increase in HES BoE budget for a total of $2,257,756.  Nick reports the budget will be voted on at 
the HES BoE meeting on 3/19, and the increase is due to the transportation contract and health 
insurance.   
Rec Commission Chair Ed Burchfield spoke about the Rec budget, and said that the amount anticipated 
being returned to the town from this year’s budget was subtracted from the anticipated total costs, 
resulting in a $280 increase to $3,475.  Some of the activities, for example bus trips, in this year were 
not terribly successful but it is felt that the word will spread and they will be more popular this coming 
year.  Other programs are gaining in popularity.  It’s a guessing game what types of activities will be 
popular.  Some of the programs are anticipated to run at a loss, but most of for children.  Nick asked 
how the expenses are balanced by funding.  Burchfield said the budget request is projected on what 
anticipated costs and revenues will be, both of which are only estimates.  There were questions and a 
discussion about the fact that youth sports is not covered under the Rec Commission budget. Ed asked 
about maintenance of tennis courts.  Burchfield replied the courts as well as the Community Center are 
town assets, and the Rec Commission is only about programs not assets.  Ed asked about concert 
venues.  Burchfield replied that concerts are scheduled at PHHS, the Congregational Church, the front 
lawn and the Hampton Community Center based upon how big the band/orchestra is and what the 
target audience is. 
Al said that tax collector assistant and assessor clerk increases are due to a request for increased hours; 
also included are 3% Cost of living adjustment (COLA).  BoF members studied the detailed budget 
requests from the departments involved.  Mike asked why the town needs an assessor at $18,000+.  Al 
replied to staff the office and provide customer service to the townspeople.  It was estimated that the 
assessor’s hourly rate is over $40/hour.  Some comparisons were made to Chaplin and Scotland as far as 
salary and the number of hours each office is open out of the total number of hours each town hall is 
open.  Hampton’s assessor cost per resident is in the middle of the range paid by the towns that are part 
of the CT Council of Municipalities (CCM) salary comparison. 
A discussion ensued regarding the 3% COLA, whether all employees, regardless of how much they are 
currently making, should get it.  Last year there was no raise, the previous year there was, previous to 
that for several years there was none.  Mike was concerned about attracting and retaining employees 
who are doing a good job and thought the COLA should remain in the budget.  Rick asked how the other 
town employees’ salaries compare to other towns; the response was most were in the middle except for 
the 1st Selectman where Hampton was the lowest by far.  Nick felt the COLA and adjustments are 
warranted, the COLA is less than Social Security increases over the last two years. 
Luci noted that the other two selectmen did not have an increase; Al stated that the increase for them 
should also be 3%.  Al also noted that he had submitted a budget last year with salary increases but was 
directed by the BoF to reduce the budget, so the raises were the first thing to be removed from the 
budget.   Ed thought the 3% increase was justified and based on sound reasoning, when taken all factors 
into consideration. 
Luci asked about the increase in health insurance; Al responded that a new hire is budgeted to take 
family coverage while the employee being replaced had single coverage, that plus the rates have 
increased by 15% for the next fiscal year. 
Nick asked about town hall telephone increase (this is based on actual usage in the current year) and 
Green Energy (the funds are needed for matching grants for solar panels). 
Luci asked about the Dial-a-Ride increase; the response was that it is a per capita cost from Windham 
Regional Transit District.  Luci asked about the compensation for those who transport residents to 
health care facilities, a different program that is continuing. 
The RD11 budget was not yet available. 



The Fire Department needs $75,000 to refurbish a truck rather than spending $250,000-500000 for a 
new one; there are monies in a fire truck fund ($59,374) plus $18,621 in an undesignated fund that can 
be used, leaving $45,000 that must be funded in the 2014-15 budget.  Hampton will need mutual aid 
from other towns and contracted services while the truck to be refurbished is out of service. 
Mike asked about the school roof payoff; Ellen responded that the question must have town meeting 
approval because the amount is over $20,000.  Discussion ensued on the pros and cons of having a 
special town meeting to do so or wait until the annual town meeting, or having it go to referendum.  
Ellen said that the decision to reimburse the school for the well problem also must be approved at town 
meeting because the Capital Non-Recurring (C/NR) fund being tapped is not regularly funded by the 
town, and there are special rules governing C/NR funds.  Also needed is town meeting approval for a 
transfer of LOCIP funds, which came in at a higher level than was anticipated when the 2013-14 budget 
was passed, to road maintenance and paving accounts.  The BoS will hold a special meeting and set a 
date for a special town meeting at this point targeted for just before the regular BoS April meeting. 
Al reported that there would be no increase in transfer station tipping fees; a 3% increase in the lease is 
built into the contract.  The Social Security line is short and must be increased; Ellen will recalculate.  
Transfer station payroll reflects salary adjustments and reflects total for both Hampton and Scotland; 
Scotland reimburses Hampton (seen in revenue line 5850.05) for the first three sanitation accounts at 
48%/52% cost share Scotland/Hampton.  Tipping fees only reflect Hampton’s cost, since each town is 
billed separately for tipping and trucking.  Transfer station permit revenue reflected in line 5850.09. 
Rick asked how much the salary increases amount to and how many employees are covered; Ellen 
calculated the total increase (including the salary adjustments and increased hours) is $23,828, covering 
at least 20 employees.  Al noted that the new HES certified staff contract increased salaries by about 
$24,000. 
Nick noted a discussion in the State legislature about increasing the reimbursement to municipalities for 
non-profit and governmental entities now exempt from taxation, and mentioned that would have a 
significant impact on Hampton due to the EastConn building and vehicles. 
Al noted that the tonnage has been reduced at the transfer station because of new policies and 
procedures put in place, so that vehicles without stickers can no longer bring their trash to the transfer 
station.  The transfer station personnel also do a lot of their own plowing. 
 
2012-13 annual report:  Kathi presented the annual report as it looks right now; there are still some 
outstanding submissions; a drop-dead deadline of 4/4 has been set in order to finalize the report for 
approval currently targeted for the 4/8/14 regular meeting.  Ed asked if the supply costs are rolled into 
the Board of Finance Administration line; the answer was affirmative, but the BoF could ask the 
Treasurer that the costs be broken out in the upcoming budget if it so desired. 
 
Citizen Comments:   Randy Thompson stated that there are about 2,000 acres of state property in 
Goodwin and Nachaug Forests that are not currently protected; there is a bill coming forth that will 
protect these lands. 
 
Next meeting date, time & agenda:   The next meeting is another budget worksession on Tuesday, 
March 25th at 7pm. 
 
Adjourn:  The meeting was adjourned at 8:36pm. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Kathi Newcombe,  
BoF Recording Clerk 


